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FOREWORD

In an investigation c¢f the old Creole village of St. Louis, which
once outlined the site of the Jefferson National Expansion Memorial,
the architectural research staff of the National Parl Service has made
an extensive search in the source materials which remain. ™hile docu-
mentary evidence is rich (there are 2503 documents in the St. Tonis
Recorded Archives, many of which contain architectural information), it
has been necessary to recreate a dead vocabulary to understand it.
This process involved a correlatingz study of Eishteenth Century docu-
ments and existing buildings. The last of the French buildings of St.
Louis disanpeared two generations ago. Only in Ste. Zenevieve can the
comparison be made todav.

Unfortunately for the architectural investisator the official
record of titles to Ste. Genevieve land has not been extended bevond
the confirmation of ownership in 12037 (time of the Tonisiana Purchnse).
Presumably all or nearly all of the necessary data lies in the Ste.
Genevieve Archives held by the Missouri Historical Society

Ry the courtesv of the latter orenmnirzation over one ‘mindred select-
ed documents from the collectinn hove been transcribed and examined, dbut
thev are a mere heginning. Obsolete words, neculisr spelliness, obscure
handwritine, mi~sine napers and the suhstitution of nicknames for proner
names each contribhute to mrke this a slow work. To date it has not been
nossible to learn the vear of erection of a single stricture of the
colonial meriod, although the writer believes that eventually manv of
them can bhe determnined, at least between limits.

The organization of this material began as a guide for a field
trip of the William Clark Society on June 4, 1939, All historical
material was built around the buildines of the town, which wers renre-
sented on a map. The printing (mimeograph process) was a small one and
soon exhausted. This new edition, enlareed and corrected, brines the
Guide up to date with current studies of the National Park Service.
Additional data which can be documented will be g£ladlv considered for
any future editions which may be forthcoming.

St. Louis, Febru-ry 14, 10bC,



HISTORICAL BACKGROTT™

The colonization of the Mississipni Valley began at the end of
the Seventeenth Century--first from Canada and then by way of the Gulf
of Mexico. Following the mroclamation of ILaSalle the French claimed
this vast land for nearly three quarters of a century and administrators
at Versailles, Quebec and New Orleans for a time drcamed of a vast em-
pire extending from the St. Lawrence to the Gulf Coast. But Quebsc fell
in the war with England, a2nd in 1763 title to the lands on the ®ast Banl:
of the River went to the conquerer and that on the West to Spain.

It was some years, however, before the full impact of the Aneglo-
American expansion from the Atlantic Seaboard Colonies was felt in the
Creole settlements of the "Illinois Country",1 and after a century and
a half the physical remains of their unique culture can still be found.
Isolated parts of Missouri heve retainsd distinctive colonial character-
istics. The search for and study of these things offers abundant rewrxd
to the antiquarian, for they comprise a subject comprrativelv untouched
by systematic and definitive rascarch.

In the Illinois Country there were at ~ne time or another some
forty Creole missionary, fur trading, farmine, mining and military
establishments. Of these none has retainad more of its ancient anvsar-
ance than the prasent towrn of Ste. Gensvieve. Thae oldest settlement of
the group on the Vississippi River--Cahoki~, Illinois, founded in 1508&--
has suffered heavily from the floods and tho neglact of the Tnglish and
Virginia sovernmsnts. Kasknskia (founded 1703)° was entirelv washed ~wav
after nearly two centuries of existence by n change of the river's conrs-.
What was left of coloninl St. Tonis disapperred durine the fire of 18uUa
and the riverfront developmant of thz Stoamboat Era.

Next to New Orleans, probably more relics of the French period ca
now be found in Sta. Gznevicve thon ~ny other town or city of the
Mississinni Valley. :

1
The "Illinois Country"--namaed after the Illinois Indians--includ-
ed parts of what are now the States of Illinois and *issouri.
2
Paln, Sister Mary Borgias, The Jesuit Missions of the Illinois
Country, 1673-1763 (1933), ». U1.




THE OLD TOWH (Poste do Saint Joachim, etc.)

The beginnings of Ste. Genevieve nre still obscure; no contemmo-
rary account of its founding hns vet com2 to li-ht. It hns bean quite
generally agroed that the scttloment wns started about the venr 1735
on the river bottom somc thres milee below the present village. Some
writers would 1lile to plrce the dnte earlier to coincid> moras nenrly
with the beginnings of leoad mining in the hack couantry, dbut it is not
shown on the map of do Tory fils (1733),1 which nortrave monv detrils
of the vicinity, as does that of Broutin (173u).q Hnd Sta. Gonoviave
been in existence ~t thosc dnates its location would undoubtedly hove
been indicmted on both.

Ste. Genavievo is thus the esighth Ynovm white establishmont in
Missouri, hovins beon praceded by the Des Peres Rvar sottlomont of
the Jesuit missionnries (1700), the Cabhannee h Rensudisre (c. 1720),
the Mine Lo Motte (c. 1723), the Mines of the *ermmec (17°3), the Fort
d'Orleans (172%), the Min> » Renault (c. 1724-F) and Vielles Mines
(c. 1728).

In the 2arliest voars the villnge wns mwrobablvy no more than a
suburb of Kask-sgkin, the littls meotronolis of the Illinois Countrve.
The dovelooment of the salt snrings on S2lina Crosk =~nd ths lead mines
in the Ozark hills were undoubtaedlv irmmortont factors in the sprerding
of the settlement on tho West Bank of the Mississipri. Probably a
careful exmrmination of the Kasknskia Manuscripts, which so back to the
first quarteg of the Tighteenth Century, will provide the missing
information.-

One Baptiste Laxose was the first settl:r according to sworn
testimony recorded meny years later. The oldest grants for the west
side bottomlnnds of which the title papers hove been discovered are for

1.
Service Hydrographisue Bib. LOUO £.19 (Faris)
)

Archives Wat. OL*

n 12677 U7 D, (Paris)
2

This amazineg collection of several thousand documents is pre-
served in tho Rndolnh County Courthousc at Chester, Illinois. The
Nation2l Park Sarvice began the microfilming of this moaterial in
February, 1640 to mnake it more egensrallv nccessibla. Prints moy be
sacurad throush the offics of Region Twe at Omahn.
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1752, and were executed by Macarty, the commandant at Kaskaskia.1 In

the same year Macarty reported that there were 27 inhabitants of Ste.
Genevieve holdine 93 arvents (nearly three miles) of frontage on the
river.© In 1759 the place is referred to as the "Poste de Saint Joachim",
in the first records of the parish.? WNotarisl records begin in 17A6 under
Svanish rule. Prior to that time the French Fort de Chartres had been the
local seat of government; the sevaration probably resulted jimmediately
from its occupation by the English in 176K,

One of the chief concerns of Ste. Genevieve seems to have been the
shipping of lead, which was brought down from the hills after smelting.
Schoolcraft said long ago: "From the earliest time . . . the French in-
habitants of St. Genevieve had all been more or less engaged in the
storage, purchase and traffic of lead. Tvery dwelling house thus becane
a storehouse for lead . . .M Like the neighborine settlements it also
furnished foodstuffs for New Orleans grown on the rich bottomlands. As
late as 1782 St. Louis was also dependent on Ste. Genevieve for food."
French Canadians, largely of Norman derivation, who had settled first on
the East Bank of the river, formed the greater part of the porulation.

Captain Philip Pittman of the English Army, who was in the Illinois
Country in 1766, stated that the village was then "about one mile in
length" and contained seventy families.” The unusual length of the settle-
ment--considering its size--suggests that it was strung out along a main
road like many of the old wvilleges along the St. Lawrence River in French
Canada. The Spanish census of 1772 gave Ste. Genevieve a mopulation of
Lot whites and 287 slaves, a total of 591 persons./ In 1782 the place
was described as being too scattered to make its defense practicable.

Back of the town lay the long narrow fields of the inhabitants, at
right angles to the river, Canadian fashion, and reaching to the hills.
This pattern of ownership can be recognized even today.

1
Guibourd Papers, Missouri Historical Societv.

2.
Found by Miss Natalia Belting in the Vaudreull Manuscrints.

Yealy, Francis J., S.J., Sainte Genevieve: The Storv of Missouri's
Oldest Settlement (St. Louis, 1935), p. 24,
L,
Schoolcraft, Henry R., A View of the Lead Mines of Missouri (New
York, 1819), p. 121.

Minutes of a council of war held at St. TLovis, Julv 9, 1782.
Original in the Bancroft Library, Berkley, California.
6.
Pittman, Capt. Philip, Present State of Zuropean Settlements on
the Mississippi (Iondon, 1770: reprinted, Cleveland, 1906), p. 50.

'Houck, Louis, The Spanish Regime in Missouri (Chicago, 1909),

T:23%5.
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THE NEW TOWN (Petites Cotes, etc.)

After repeated damage from floods, especially that of the spring
of 1785,1 the town moved to its present site on high ground where the
three branches of Gabouri Creek come down from the hills. This moving
did not take place all at once =nd the notary's register® does not in-
dicate a sudden rush of real estate transactions. Threats by the river
had begun earlier. As early as 1778 a2 Ste. Genevieve hnuse owned by
Joseph Couture had been described as "about to be destroyed by the
river".3 1In 1787 thirteen inhabitants of the new village petitioned to
have their fields in ILeGrand Champs divided from the others! and
"Petites Cotes" (Little Hills)D appears as its name. As late as 1796
Collot found at ghe old village "still ~ few huts remaining, inhabited
by the traders".- The location of the church was not changed before
1794, By that time the town had increased considerably in size, lorgelv
because of the lawless conditions on the Bast Bank of the river which
drove a lorge part of the inhabitants to the Spnanish side. The French
nonulation had already been nugmented by =2 number of Spanisrds, Anglo-
Americans and Germans, who had come for trading, mining and 1lanA specu-
lation. As the lands began tn fill up for the first time, hunting be-
came difficult and the Indian trade¢ dropred off. Many of the French
moved back to the mining country or to advonced posts like St. Tharles.

After the moving of the village the Grand Champs continued to be
used for farming. In the following yenrs other smaller outlyineg tracts
were also cultivated, such as ths Point 5 Pichet Fields on the river .
north of Maxwell's Hill, petitioned for in 1793 by six inhabitonts and
the "Grand Park Common Fields" on high ground west of the new village.

1'Letter, Miro to G=lvez, quoted in Houck, Spanish Regime, I:235.

2'Ste. Genevieve Archives (hereafter referred to as STEGA), Mise.
Bound MSS KNo. 1.

3.
Gst. Louis Recorded Archives (hereafter referred to as STIRA),
I1:1:166 -

STEGA, Misc. Petitions No. 22.

4 See also STEGA, Misc., Churches Yo. 3L. §t. Cherles, Missouri was
also called "Petites Cotes", and its locaticn on the Missouri River was
often specified, apvarently to avoid confusion. Ste. Genavieve was alsg
nicknamed "Misere" or "Misery" by the early French, who h=ad similar
sobriquets for neighboring villages.

'Collot. Victor, "A Journey in Nnrth America", renrinted from the
English edition of 1826 in Transactions of the Illinois State Historical
Society for the Year 1908 (Springfield, 1900), n. 29,

L.




There seems to have been no "Commons" (Communc) established as was
customary in neightoring villages. Outlying settlements were the French
Royalist colony of Nouvelle Bourbon and the Pcoria Indian village, both
of which were nearby to the south. When Upper ILouisiana became an Amer-
icen possession in 1804, Ste. Genevieve, according to Amos Stoddard,
contained one hundred and eighty houses.l

It was inevitable that the town should change. Of his visit six
vears later Brackenridge says:

". . . As I apnroached the rocky stream which winds

round one side of the villnrge and the common field of vast
oxtent between it and tho river, it was nleasing to find
that the place had not undereons an antire change, althoneh
the apnaarance of a different stvle of building intermineled
with tha old nbodes, showed that Amaricnns had ~lrendy set
thair fiet in it. There was enouch left to snswer to the
lmndscape vreserved by mamory, ~nd which I hrd dwzlt on so
often, that it wns as familiar as 'houschold words.' The
large dwellins of the commandnnt, Monsieur Valle, wns still
there; the inclosures of pickets, the intermingled orchards
and gerdens, still gave a choaracter distinct from the Ameri-
can villages; while cnttle, horned nnd without horns, were
the chief occupnnts of the streets and hishwovs . . "¢

The e¢nd of the slave economy, which supported the leadingz families,
and the influx of a lmrge number of Germans in the middle Ninetzenth
Century have been imwortnnt factors in the change and growth of the
village. Accessibility by the new highwoy will only accelerate the
process. The Creole langunge is fast dying out ~nd many of the old
houses have disappeared in recent yenrs. Nearly all of the French
furniturce hos been sold to out-of-town antique denlers ond even its
style has been lost to memory.

Ports of the town do, however, retain o unigue flavor even to this
dny ~nd if precautions are token to retain it thare is 2 foir choance
that the place will become better known and much enjoved by travelling
Americons.,

L
Stoddard, Major Amos, Sketches, Historical n~nd Descriontive of
Louisinna (Philndelnhi~, 1812), n. 21F%,
2
Brackenridec, H. M., Recollections of Persons o~nd Plnces in
The West (Fhilndclphin, 18A8), ». 100,




NOT®=S ON THE FRENCH HOUSES

With the exception of n small wooden fort described by General
Collot, a wooden church »nd possibly o jail, there were no pubdblic
buildings in this new town. Two wntermills, o horsemill nand = potterv
kiln ~rc the only structures of industrinl chrracter recorded. At some
distance from the town cattle ronches or dairies (vacheries), sugar
comps (sucreries), saltmaking plants rnd lead mines were established.
Many of the inhatitnants or their slaves worked in th2 mines in the win-
ter when the farms conld be laft for a few months. With the coming of
the Americans, projects for rope-wnlks, distilleries, shoc factories,
etc. were announced, but how mnny were actunlly renlized is not known.

Houses and their devendencies mnde up the town. Of the latter the
barn, the stable (4tabla, deurie), the shed (hangnrd), the hen house
(poulailler), the corn house (cabannc h mohis), the oven (four) and the
well (puits) seem to hove been the most common. The outside kitchen,
the slave quarters (cabanne'é.dkgres) and the bakehouse are nlso en-
counterad in the records. In coloninl dnys the outbuildings outnumbersd
the houses of the town, but they hnve all disappenred, vnresumably becouse
they were not kopt in repnir. Thres exnmples of the well-heads of stone
with windlasses and peculinr wooden tops like pup tents remain in the
town.

The houses themsclves =re very interesting, thoush in every case
there have been alterations m~de nnd most of the exammles hnve little
enough left to indicate their originnl apnenrance. In most cases the
attics nnd basements nre more likely to revenl the origirnl design of
the house thnn any other pnrts.

The French house of Ste. Genevieve is closely relnted in genernl
form to that of Can~dn ~nd Normandv. The areat~st innovations are the
porch that has been wrapned around it ~nd the wood shin~les which cover
it. The porch (locally zrleris) scems to have come un from lower
Louisinna nnd the Test Indies, whars it ns an ~dantntion to hot weather
~and ~ nrotection to vlastered w~lls. Tha shinsls (pgrdeau) was largelv
a North American innovntion to. the French. In France slnte, tile nnd
thatch were most commonly used for roofing becnuse of the scarcity of
woode. Many of the earlier houses built by the French on the Mississiopi--
particularly on the Bnst side--were thatched,” but the dry }Middle Western
climate probably made straw roofs n great fire hnzard_~nd with the passing
of venrs they nre mentioncd less and less frequently.

~

Various i85 in the Kaskaskia Manuscrints, Private Paners.
2
The roof of the St. Gemme-Amoureaux house still carries a few of
the thatching strins similar to those used on Norman houses.

(@2
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There were four types of house construction used by the local French
of that time. The Eighteenth Century terms in local usage were:

(1) The maison de poteaux en terre (literally, "nosts in earth") is
a "palisadoed" house built of timbers set upright in the ground, fastened
together only at the top. Above grade the timbers or posts were squared
and when built of rot-resisting cedar thev made a sound and mermanent
structure. This type, once the most common of all, is renresented *v
three examples still standing in Ste. Genevieve. It is very old, having
Ween used in the earliest days of Biloxi (founded 1699) and New Orleans
(1718) and was probably a method taken over from the early Spanish
settlements on the Gulf Coast.l The tynve is unbtnown in France and Can-des.

The mrison de vieux en terre was nlso found here. This was built of
vosts antirely in the round, a _cruder method first mentioned for Missouri
at the Fort d'Orleans in 1724, At Ste. Genevieve it was used mostly for
outbuildines.

b 4
(2) The maison de motesnx sur solle (literally "nosts on sill"),
is a frame house, though a verv massive one hecause of the large size of
the timbers ard their close snacing. The sill was sumnmorted on =2 stone
foundation, or occasionally, as farther south, on wood blocks, keening
the frame awav from the dammness of the groond. This tvme of structure
requires more skill to huild but is in =eneral more duradle.

In the tvpes just described the walls were filled between the mosts
with clay and grass (i.e. bouzilldes) or with stone and mortar (i.e.
pierrotté%s). The former method of filling is comrmon in Tounisian=, whare
Spanish moss was used, the latter in Yormandv. 1In nearlv everv honse
these walls slope inward on all four sides to a marked degres. This
characteristic, noted to be common also in Canada, hns not been exnlained.

(3) The maison de pierre or stone house wns broucht from Frarce and
Carada to the Upper !'ississippi settlements at an early date. However,
the type does not seem to have "caught on" in Ste. Genevieve. The old
stone house (date unknown) near 1’11l CreeX on what is now the St. Mary's
Joad may have been Huilt in the colorial period but its eharacter has
®een changed by alterations.

e
Falisadoed houses were used in certain Enelish colonies on our
Atlantic coast in the 17th Centurv, but there seems to be no inter-re-
lationshin.
2.
Paris, Archives Coloniales, C13% £,U:117-125-1.
B
"de poteauxsur solle" was annarertly svnonomous with "en colombase"

and "de belle charmenta" frequently seen in contemmorary nhrasine.




(4) The maison de pieces sur pieces (literally "timbers on timbers")
or horizontal log house is not mentioned in the Ste. Genevieve records,
though it has been commonly used in Canada since early times.l Only a
few small outbuildings seemed to have been built in that way. The
Creole apparently did not like the type. Towards the end of the colonial
period there is ever increasing mention of the maison en boulins. This
was apparently the Anglo-American cabin of round, or unhewn, loes.

As to floor plan: there seem to be at least two different types--the
very old arrangement of a single row of rooms end on end, and a more com-
pact scheme two rooms deep. In certain examples like the Rolduc house
the building is divided into sections which do not communicate by interior
doors. Smell sleeping rooms or cabinets were once nsed here but they hove
disappeared. The lennto (appentis) is freguentlv mentioned in the earl-
records, but none have survived, unless the stone kitchen of the Rolduc
house may be considered an exa~mle. Porches were found on one, two,
three or four sides of these buildings. The Bolduc and J. R. Vallé homses
retain the best evidence of the porch comnletely surroundine the buildineg,
These porches varied in width from four feet to twice as much. Most of
them were floored, thouzh some were rot.

Above the walls rose the roof frame--a massive hewn affair comnosed
of Norman trusses arraneed to sunmnort a hin roof. Orisinallv these were
made verv steen to shed water from the thatching. In this reecion the
trusses were continued for s ma2 time as a matter of hahit after thatching
was discrrded. Tn lnte treansitional exarmmles lile the Janis-Ziegler
house the economv of thre American roofine svstem hag enined the unmer
hand and the nicturesque trusses of 01ld France have bheen omitted.

Txcept for a few interior doors nracticallv all French interior wood-
work, if there wns ever any of note, hnas disapreared. Some crude nansll-
ing foond lying in the attic of the Bolduc house is nractiecally all that
has been noted. TExarmles of fine French p~nellins are known in Canadn
and since skilled joinasrs were mresent in 18th Century Missouri it is not
impossible that some of ths more pratentious buildinegs werse so decorated
at one time., Some of the earlyv Ste. Genevieve houses otherwise French in
character show Anglo-American mentlenieces and trim such as can be found
in 18th Century Virginia buildings. The present town was put un nfter the
first ericans hnad arrived in the vplace and their influence can ha seen
in mony of the oldest houses.

L,

The oldest wooden houses of Canada are made of carefully hewn or
sawed timbers of heavy dizensions laid horizontally and mortised into
uprizht timbers at the corners. Anoth=sr tyne is dovetailed at the cor-
ners (en guesue d'aronds) "Sad’'le notching" and "squars cut" notchine
have not been observed by the writer in “uehec Province.




Glass was probably exnensive in Ste. Genevieve durineg the colonial
period, since it had to be imworted from Burome. Most of the humbler
houses mnrobably used n-ver At the windows as in Canndn! or linen 2s in
Lower Louisiann.” Collot's engraving, "Tynical Habitation of the I11i-
nois Country", probably sketched bv Warin during his visit of 1705 shows
a small house without window sash. However,_ some glass was used at ¥as-
kaskia before the foundins of Ste. Genavieva? and mention is made of
window glass in St. ILouis in 17ﬁ7.h The oldest record forrSto. Genagvwieve
is in a contract for a house for Simon Huberdeaux in 177°0.7 Probadbly the
better houses of the village always had glass windows. The Guibonrd
house still has two pair of casemsnt windows similar to those of Tan~dn
and Touisiann.

Shutters (contirevents) were often mentioned in the records and sevornl
exarmles of the interesting dove-tailed (en auene d'aronde) tvme known in
France can be seen in Ste. Genevieve todav. The original sxterior doors
of Ste. Genevieve werc nrobably solid wood "shesthed", as well as single
doors with nine glass lizhts above and two wooden vpanels below, as in
several examnles still to be found in the town. Double-glnzed ("French")
doors were known to have besn usad in the Torraine-Lisa House in St.

Louis (before 1799). They are still common in Iouisinna and were vrobably
used to some extent in Ste. Genevieve. Intsrior doors s=zem to have been
simply made of "board and batton" construction.

Hardware and nails were immorted into this region from an early date.
Three wrought iron door latches found in the town show n~ close affinity to
those of Quebec. Som2 strop hinges are similar to those of the Atlantic
Seaborrd, but others have characteristic French shapes as the fiszh-tail
end of those on the 3olduc Housz kitchen shuttsrs or the svlit 2nd curleg
decorations on those from the o0ld wooden church.- While no iron mining
was done in Missouri during the coloninl pariod, iron wns common enough
for the general use of nnils--spikes, lath nails, shingla nrils ~nd oth-r
tynes being frequentlv mentioned in the records.

1'Benson, Adolph B., ed., Peter Kalm's Travels in North America
(New York, 1937), Vol. II, n. 460

2.T.-etter, Richard Koch of New Orleans to the writer.

?'Kaskaskia Manuscripts, Commercial Paners, Vol. I, 1723.

+.STLRA, IV 3ihen

g%STEGA, Contracts, #20.

Sollection of Mr. Vion Panin, Ste. Genevieve.
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Inside the house walls were plastered and whitewashed, but the
ceilings were left open showing the beams and attic flooring. Paint
was practically unknown and the woodworl was probably left in its
natural state. Heating was effected from fireplaces leading into
stone chimneys and lighting bv candles. Stoves and lamps do not seem
to have arrived in Missouri until the end of the Eighteenth Century,
when they are mentioned in the St. Louis Archives.

10.
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OLD FRENCE-AMERICAN EXAMPIES OF
WROUGHT IRCN DOOR LATCHES.

From house demolished 1939, Isle d'Orleans, P.Q.
Coll.: C. ®, Peterson.

Excavated at Guibourd House, Ste. Genevieve, Mo.
Coll.: Jules Valle.

Ribault House, Ste. Genevieve, l}o.

From Bolduc House, Ste. Genavieve, Mn.
Coll.: Mrs. Obermueller.

Section of No. 4. (Latchbar and keemer missing)







CONTRACT FOR BUIIDING THE BOISLEDUC
HOUSE.

The following recordl relating to a proposed house at Ste., Genevieve
in 1770 will give the readrr a gen:rnl idea of such nere~ments. The in-
volved naturc of this contrnct between Boisleduc tha former and Ronlet
the carventer raveals a ch-racteristic French love for hargaining.
Neither party could write and the argument was simnly brought indoors
where it was set down by Robinet the clerk more or lcss ~s hz honard it:

"Beforc Monsieur Valle/, Judee nnd Notarv nt Ste.
Genevieva and his Clerk, the undersigned, was vprosent
Sieur Louis Boisleduc who hns agreed to the following:

"Sicur Touis Boulast contracts to build for the
said Boisleduc a frame house [mnison sur solle] 21%1x
2A' roofed with shingles and with floors and coilings
of dressed cottonwood boards, the ceiling boards on
the porch to be whitewashed on one side. The remainder
to be tongue-and-groove 1" thick, the floors with square
“joints 13" thick.

"To be included are tongue-and-groove wooden shutters
UL' high and 35' wide, the materinl to be of scasoned wal-
nut furnished to the said contractor. There will be three
windows and two doors 6' high, likewise of walnut (or other
wood) the boords tongue-and-groove, like onc which the said
Boisleduc will furnish the contractor [as 2} sample]. Bois-
leduc will also furnish the nececssary ironwork, the nnils
and proper tools for the construction of the snid house.

"In addition, the contractor will be provided -vith two
black or white workers to assist him, their board included,
along with the bonrd and loundry of the contractor during
the period of construction.

"The said Boisleduc agrees to have sawn and delivered
the shingles necessary to roof thc said house.

"The house shnll have n gnlerie 43! wide, without
floor, 2l1ll around it.

L
STEGA, Agresments-Contracts #5, translation by the writer. The
wording has bean slichtly shortened in translation, and divisions into
punctunted sentences and parngraphs have been introduced.

1.



"The sills of the said house 2s comnl-:ted are to be
supported on blocks thres fext high unless thas snid Bois-
leduc decides to have a masonry foundation, which the
contractor is not obliged to build. The s=id Roisleduc
will deliver all the proper and necessary timber for the
snid house and [for this purposa] will use only one of the
men above mentioned contractor's halpers whila theo wood is
being hauled.

"Th2 said house is to be completed ~ccording to the
conditions herein stipulated ond oenen to the inspoection of
experts without nrgument on the part of sither partv. As
gsoon as the undertnking is completed ths snaid Boisladuc
binds himself to pay to the snid Sieur Boulet the sum of
350 livres in hard doll~rs [pinstres gourdes] volued at §
livres sach, or in beaver pelts or dzerslins ~t the current
rate. Thec snid house is to be rendy for delivery Sevptaember
30, 1771.

"The snid Roisleduc will be antitlod to the services
of thesec two hired men without intorruntion for the work
of the farm, thnt is, during ths nlanting ~nd horvesting
time of French gr-in ~nd corn, and ~lso for nutting un hoy.
This has been agra2ed to, in tha customarv form, nromising
& centracting & waiving &.

"Done and delivered in the office, June 11, 1770, in
the oresenca of the undarsignad witnassas, ~ftor a reading,
at tha said Sts. Gansvieve. The s~id Boulat ~nd Roislzduc
have stated that they know nnt how to siom.

"Acceptad, examined and countersisned.
Deguire Valld fils =witness Rnbinet, Clerk

to the Judge."
Valld

12.
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POINTS OF INTEREST IN STE. GENEVIEVE

1. Bequet-Ribault House.

This small structure is of special interest because of its peculiar
wall construction of cedar posts planted vertically in the gronnd (known
locally in the 18th Century as poteaux en terre) which have svrvived
until today. They can be seen hy looking over the fence and under the
south end of the front porch.

The house originally had plastered walls and porches on all four
sides, an arrangement tymnical of the colonial house of this region. In
spite of changes, the house has preserved many interesting details, such
as the en queue d'aronde shutters pegged with wooden pins. The house was
recorded in detail for the Historic American Buildings Survey in 1027,

2. St. Gemme-Amoureaux House.

Before the gables of this house were added the structure had a steep
French Canadian hip roof. (In this case a 72° slope on the ends and 52°
on the sides.) Roofing strips remaining in the attic seem to indicate
that the structure was originally without porches and was thatched.
Thatched houses were familiar in this region in the first half of the 18th
Century. The original stone chimney top has been changed to brick in
recent years.

Across the road from this house lie the "Big Common Fields" where
the land is still farmed in narrow strips running from the hluffs to the
river. It was formerly enclosed by a common fence maintained by the com-
munity.

3. Misplait House.

This interesting little house, which seems to have come to Basil
Misplait from his parents in 1804, shows features ch-racteristic of the
early French buildings. Like many of the others the roof was hinped.
Note the batter of the exterior walls, a familiar condition, the purpose
of which has not been explained.

In the rear of this house is a ston= well (puits) with a tent-
shaped wooden top and windlass, The form seems to be meculiarlv French.

4, Janis-Ziegler House.

This attractive old house with its mneach-colored walls and boxwood
is a transitional structure and does not have the Norman roof trusses to
be seen in some of the older houses. It is said to have bean built in

13.




1800 and later used as the "Green Trez Tavern". The signbneord nav be
seen in the Ste. Genevieve Museun.

The boxwood growing here indicates about tho northern limits of
its range in Missouri.

5. Francois Valld House.

Facing South Gabouri Creek this unpretentious wooden building is
all that is left of the house of Francois valld II., Civil and Military
Commendant of Ste. Genevieve until his death early in 180K. 1In 1811
the improvements on the lot were: ". . . a large one story dwelling
house a Kitchen & Stable . . ." (STEGA, Deeds #337).

The Vallé (original spelling Vallée) family came from Canada.
Their 0ld stone house a2t Beauport on the north side of ths St. ILawrence
below Quebec is still standing, though many changes have been mada in
later years. Francois II. was born in the Illinois Country in 17R%.
His father, Francois I. (171f-1781), wns for som~ vesrs commandant in ths
old village.

6. The Bolduc Housa

This large structure is ore of tha lanst chorgad of the old French
houses of Ste. Genevieva. It wns the home of Touis Bolduec I. until his
death in 1815. Bolduc, a prominent merchant and slave ownar, was horn
in the Perish of St. Joachim, Canada, Decambor 20, 1731, Miss Zoe Rolduc
of the same family lives in the north and of the honse %todeoy.

Tradition asserts that the frame of the houss was moved un from the
0old town. If that is the case it may be one of tha oldest housos in the
Mississippi Vallev.

The body of the house is built in two sections of identicnl size
(26'x27'), which are not connscted by interior doors. The stone kitchen
on the rear is a picturesque featurs. The attic (reachzd by stairway
from the northeast room) is remarkable. The solid loez ceiling of the
south half of ths building should be noted, ns well os the fine large
Norman trusses supporting ths roof.

This house has been measured in detail by the Nation=2l Park Service.

It avpe~rs in a2 dioramn of Ste. Gencvieve und-r construction for the
Jefferson National Exvansion Memorial.

14,



7. The Meilleur House (0ld Convent) (built about 1815)

Rene Meilleur, son-in-law of Louis Bolduc, built this two story
frame structure for a private dwelling. 1In 1837 (?) it was hought by
the Sisters of Loretto for use as a convent. Its walls ~re "nogeed"
with brick. The Flemish bhond brick buildine immediatelv teo the north--
now doing duty as a blacksmith shop--is said to have been Meillsur's
store.

8. The Wilder House.

The north portion of this house (about 2L1x31') is a French frame
structure with Anglo-American work evident in the window trim and the
mant~lpiece. The house was bought in 18A0 by the Milder family.

9. The J. B. valld House.

This was the house of Jean Bantiste Valld (1760-1210), last comman-
dant of the district of Ste. Gensvieve. Ths buildineg is a frame struc-
ture on a stone foundation ("poteaux sur solla", like tho Rolduc House).
It was considerably modified in the 19th Centurv--porticularly the roof
and chimneys. The depth of the house suggests that it had ~_low West
Indies type of hip roof like that of the Pierre Menard Wousel (c. 1800)
across the river. The heavy tapered beams supvorting the second floor
are of great lsngth.

The grounds of the house are attractively planted--the formal
garden north of the house follows an 0ld pattern.

10. The St. Gemme Beauvais House

This house seems to have been definitely identified as the bhovhood
home for several years of Henryv Maris Brackanridge, well lmown early
western writer, who described it thus:

"The house of M. Beauvais wns 2 lone, low huilding,
with a porch or shed in front, and another in the rear;
the chimnev occupied the centre, Adividing the house into
two prris, with each a fireplnace. One of these served
for a dining-room, parlor and nrincipol bedroom; the other
wns the kitchen, and each had ~ small room taken off at
the end for vrivate chamhars or cahinsts. There was no

1,
Maintained as an historic house museum bv the State of Illinnis--
well worth a visit.
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loft or garret, a pair of stairs being a rare thing
in the village. The furniture, excenting the beds
and the looking-glass, was of the most common kind,
consisting of an armoire, a rough table or two, and
some co=rse chairs. The yard w-s inclosed with ce-
dar pickets, eirsht or ten inches in diameter, =rd
seven fart high, plsced upright, sharmened at the
top, in the manner of a stocknde fort. 1In front the
vard was narrow, but in the rsar quite spacious, ~nd
containing the barn and stahles, the neero quorters,
and all ths necessary offices of a farm-ynrd. Royond
this thare was a spacious garden, inclonsed with pickets
in the same manner with the yard. It was indeed a
garden, in which the greatest variety and the finest
vegetables were cultivated, intermingled with flowars
and shrubs; on one side of it thare was & small orchard
containing a2 variety of the choicest fruits. The sub-
stantial and permanent ch-racter of thece inclosures is
in singular contrast with ths slight and temmorary
fences and palings of the Americans. The house was a
ponderous wooden frame, which, instead of being vo~tw r- 1
boarded, was filled in with clay, and then white'~shed . . "
The house originally extasnded farther to the north. The construc-
tion of the o0ld part is of poteaux en terre with a log ceiling. The
rear wing is modern and the roof has besn changed.

11. Phillipson-Valld House.

This pretty little stcne house seems to have been built between
1818 and 1824, when the property was owned by Jacob Phillivson. In the
latter year it was sold to J. B. Valle. It was measured in 1934 by the
Historic American Buildings Survey.

The lines of this structure, with its modillion =nd dentil cornice
are probably as attractive as can be frund in =2ny smcoll Americen house.
The general effect sugeests Maryland or Virginin. The stoon which once
gave access to the front door was removed some venrs ago and revlaced by
the present recessed doorway.

12. "Mammy Shaw House".

This house is of uncertain orisin, but seemingly it is one of the
older specimens in the town. The woodwork apwesrs to be Anslo-Amarican.

1'Brackenridge, H. M., Recnllections of Persons and Places in The
West (Philadelphia, 1848), n. 21.




. &

The large doubls interior doors are sa2id to have comc from n stzambont
wrecked on the Mississippi River.

The name given this house is that of the widow of Dr. Shaw., It is
used as a painter's studio at the present time.

13, "Indian Trading Post".

This little stone building is often referred to as an "Indian trad-
ing post", although no authority is known for the idea. It was measured
for the Historic American Buildings Survey in 1034,

14. Rozier Bank

In the winter of 1810-11 John James Audubon, the famous naturalict-
artist, came to Ste. Genevieve with Ferdinand Rozier from Hendersorn,
Kentucky. They had known each other as midshipmen in the Frerch navy and
had been in partnership for nine years in America. Audubon did not like
Ste. Genevieve and returned to Kentucky soon nfterwards. Rozier staved
to found a fortune.

This stone building has be=n the seat of a vrivate bank for many
years.

15. Senator ILinn Housec.

Home of Dr. ILewis F. Tinr, a Kentuckyv physicien, who came to Ste.
Genevieve in 1815, He served as Tmnited States Sanater from 1833 until
his death in 18u43.

16. Dufour House.

This house stands on grnund confirmed to "Parfnoit" Dufour after
the change from the Spanish to the dmerican Govermment. Irn 1789 Du-
four owned a 10'x15' house of poteaux en terre differings from this
structure both in size and tyve of constructinon. !

17. Museun.

This institution was opened in 1935 in connection with the RBicen-
tennial of Ste. Genevieve's fourding. It contains a collectinn of in-
teresting objects--mostly most-colonial--and a librarv. Certain publi-
cations, including postcords, are available hare. Admissinn ten cents.

1.
STEGA, Estates #97.

iy



v

18. Price Brick Building.

John Price, a Kentuckisn,1 was one of the first entarorising Ameri-
cans in Sts. Genevieve. With his brother Andrew he was engaged in trade
with Iouisville and Frankfort in 179%. In the same vear he was groanted
a2 license to run the Ste. Genevieve-Kaskaskia ferry for six vears.

Price owned and probably built this brick structure, which he lcst
at a Sheriff's sale in 1805. It is early architectural avidence of the
Anglo-American migration to Missouri. Brick were not used in the early
French towns north of New Madrid for stone was easily available ond
answered the same needs. Farther down the river where stona was scorce,
as in Iouisiana, brick hnd been made from the earliest davs.

The fat handmade brick of this building are 1lnid up in Flemish
bond as in buildings of the Atlantic Seabo~rd and Kentucky. The presence
of smaller brick in common bond at the gables may indicate that the
structure once had 2 hipped roof. The cornice is similor to that of the
Phillipson-Valld house.

19. The Church of Ste. Genevieve.

The first church in the 0ld villzmge sz227s tn hove heen bnilt
about 1752. Two grants of land made in that vear require the erantees
to fell timbers for its construction. Nnthing is *nown of its avnear-
ance. As early as 1778 a2 new church was under consideration and in the
1783 inventorv of Francois Vallé's estnte is mentioned a 1ot st aside
for its construction. 3But the old church continued in use until 1700,
Tradition says that the structure was moved bodily to the new site at
that time.

Zenon Truden, "Captnin of the Tmuisiana Reriment ard Comrmonding
Officer of the Wester» Part of the Illinnis Country" and Fathar St.
Pierre had held a meectins of tha citizens on Sertember 7, 1793 tn con-
gider the location and cnnsﬁructinn of a church in the rew towr as well
as a chapel at Waw Bourhon.” The Vessrs. Tachance, Pratte and Rnldnc

l.

"fils de Mnrsieur j2an price et de Dame Srra Bowin son Tnouse
Demeurant n fayette Contde En Kintucke province Des Ttats Unis".
STEGA, Marriages #113, 1799.

2.
STEGA, Litigations 4205.
3

‘STEGA, Miscellanenus No. 2, #112.
"STEGA, Miscellancous, Churches #33.
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were selected as the executive committee by majority vote. Apmarently
there was dissention regarding the arrangement since it became necessary
for Trudeau in the following year to officially settle the choice of the
site and warn any objectors that they would be immediately sent down to
New Orleans at their own expense if they did not contribute their assessed
share of the expenses of construction cost.? The new tilding was built
in the new town.

The means of construction is described in two affidavits filed in
connection with a lawsuit now in the Archives. Jean Bantiste Reguet
furnished for Augustin Bertau his share consisting of 200 shinglas, 2F
laths, 2 planks 6'?" long, ditto 5' long, four davs of labor (oorve)
and one load of stone. Also mentioned is that he put houzill=ge betwoen
posts and set the nlanks listed. One Gravelle stated that he had fur--
ished three posts, 103 shingles, a 10! nlank,ﬁe 5t plank, a 10! hoard,

a half load of stone and three dayvs of labor. “ If the nld structiure was
actually moved to tre rew site it must have becn extensivelv remairesd or
anlarged.

In time ths wooden chursh wes ranlaced by one of stone, bogin in
1831 and consecratad in 1877.3 This in turn gave wov to the attractive
Victorian Gothic brickr structure begun in 1775 2nd dedicated in 19%80.
This, the Erbsant church, is the fourth to serve the marish of Ste.
Genevieve.

2C. Pratte Warehousss.

These old stone warehouses now standing on the grounds of the
Sisters of St. Josenh are said to have belonged to Joserh Pratte, a
merchant of Ste. Genevieve, whno owned this property at a2n sarlv date.

21. Gregoire House.

This large brick house--t2 second occupied by the CGregoire family--
shows Greeck Revival influence. The Price-Viller-Gregoire house built
about 1799 stood immediately to the north. It was demolished scome forty
years ago.

1.
STEGA, Miscellaneous, Churches #3Uu.

2.

STEGA, ILitigations, #25.
3.

Yealy, n. 111.
1t

Ibid., n. 13°.
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22. Guibourd House.

Jacques Guibourd, a slave holder of Santo Domingo, came to Ste.
Genevieve at the end of the Tighteenth Centurv. Tn 179¢ ha wns granted
the land on which the nresent house stands. The concessicn makes no
mentinon of a house on the vroperty at the time.

The house has been put in excellent condition by the nresent owner.
Among the most interesting features of this house are the framing of the
attic and the two pairs of original French casement windows on the first
floor. A brick kitchen of later date may be seon in the raar.

23. 014 Burving Grourd.

Many of the prominent early settlers of Ste. Genevieve are buried
hers. Mgr. Charles ILouis Van Tourenhout lists the following: "Comman-
dant Jean Baptiste Valle), Felix and 0Odile Pratte valld, Jacauves Guibourd,
Senator Louis Linn, Ferdinand Rozier, Henry Janis, Vital Bauvais or Re=u-
vais, Auguste St. Gemme, Famille la Grave, Nerde Valld and Aglace/Chou—
teau, Hilaire ILe Compte, John Bogg, J. B. S. Pratte, Charles Hypolitte
Gregoire, Marie Ia Porte, Colonel Francois Vnlle', Marie Villars and
Walter Fenwick."

The work of preserving this old cemetery was nndertaken about 1931
by the American Legion Memorial Park Association in preparation for the
Ste. Genevieve Bi-Centennial celebration. Populsr subscription began
the work, which is now carried on by a specinl tax. Mr. Henry I. Rozier
is Presidert of the Association.

2h. The Ste. Gensvieve Academy.

In 1807 a secondery school was organized by a bonrd of citizens and
in the following vear it received a chorter from the Territory of Iouis-
iana. The existing stone building, in Anglo-American stvle, was built
for it on a2 hill back of the town about 1810. After a cherkered career
the,Aca%emy ceased to exist as » school during the War betwsen the
States.

s
Yealy, pn. 12U-2%.
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UNITED STATES
DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
JEFFERSON NATIONAL EXPANSION MEMORIAL . _ ..

ST. Louis, MISSOURI JUI 1- 1939 %7

Memorandum for the Director:
Attention: Branch of Historic Sites.

Enclosed for the files of the Historic Sites Survey
is a copy of A Guide to Ste. Genevieve, with Notes on
Its Architecture. This brochure was prepared by Mr. Peterson,
chisf architeet of this office, on the basis of considerable
detailed study of the history and architecture of this
interesting old town. It should be of great assistance

in evaluating this site under the Survey.

P A >

Thomas M. Pitkin,
Research Technician,

Enclosure 1138410



July 19, 1939,

demorandum for Superintendent,
Jefferson Netional Expansion Nemorisl:

Attention: ¥r. Pitkin and ¥y, Peterson.
mum»mmumu

transaisting o of A S%e,

This brochure is an extremely valusble contribu~
tion to the history and srchitecturs of this historie
tosm, It will be very helpful to us in our stully of
eighteenth century French sites, the theme which will be
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